Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-16-2016

State v. Richardson Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44042

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

For four years, Kyle Richardson waited while the State continued his trial, then sought an appeal, then unnecessarily delayed having him transported to Idaho for trial. While Mr. Richardson waited, he was ineligible to undergo critically necessary drug treatment thereby increasing the risk that his congestive heart condition would end his life sooner, rather than later. Due to the State's delays, and despite Mr. Richardson's efforts to resolve the matter, he was not tried until four years after he was initially arrested, and thus he was only able to have eighteen months of his twelve-year, with five years fixed, Idaho sentence served concurrently with his five-year federal sentence. Further, the trial witnesses' memories were seriously impaired due to the length of time that had passed since Mr. Richardson was first arrested for selling methamphetamine to a State confidential informant (hereinafter, CI) on three occasions in 2011. Because Mr. Richardson unnecessarily waited for four years to have a jury trial, his Constitutional and statutory rights to a speedy trial and his rights under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers were violated, his convictions and sentences should be vacated and his case dismissed with prejudice.

Mr. Richardson also asserts that the district court erred when it admitted evidence of uncharged prior bad acts at trial. Mr. Richardson further contends that the district court erred in awarding \$2,738.46 in restitution where the State failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the amount requested on behalf of the ISP.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In September of 2011, Kyle Richardson was contacted by a confidential informant and sold the informant methamphetamine in three controlled buys. (R., pp.18-19.) On January 1, 2012, Mr. Richardson was charged with three counts of delivery of methamphetamine. (R., pp.33-34.) After a preliminary hearing, the magistrate court bound Mr. Richardson over into district court, and the State filed an Information charging Mr. Richardson with three counts of delivery of a controlled substance. (R., pp.54-58, 60.) At arraignment, Mr. Richardson entered a not guilty plea to the charges. (R., p.65.) Though the original jury trial was set to occur on June 4, 2012, the State requested a continuance, and the trial was reset to August 20, 2012. (R., pp.72-74.)

On July 31, 2012, the State filed a motion seeking to use the now-deceased confidential informant's preliminary hearing testimony at trial. (R., pp.79-103.) The district court denied the motion. (R., pp.166-172.) On January 8, 2013, the State received permission to file an interlocutory appeal. (R., pp.182-183.)

On appeal, the Idaho Supreme Court reversed the district court's order denying the admission of the preliminary hearing testimony, and the remittitur was issued on July 8, 2014. (R., pp.192-202, 204.) When Mr. Richardson did not appear for a status conference on July 24, 2014, the district court issued a bench warrant even though defense counsel advised both the district court and the prosecutor that Mr. Richardson was in federal custody until March of 2017. (R., pp.205-206.) No hearings were held and no action was taken on the case until more than six months later when, from Terre

Haute FCI in Indiana, Mr. Richardson filed a Demand for Speedy Trial and Final Disposition in February of 2015. (R., pp.207-210.)

After the Demand for Speedy, the district court held **seven** hearings to ascertain the status of the prosecutor's efforts to get Mr. Richardson back to Idaho for a trial. (R., pp.211-240.)

Defense counsel stated Mr. Richardson's current location, Terre Haute, Indiana, and mentioned that he had been moved from a location in Oregon where he unfortunately was ineligible for a drug treatment program because he had state charges pending. (2/19/15 Tr. p.27, Ls.13-22.) Counsel said he wanted Mr. Richardson to get his Idaho charges resolved so he could participate in a drug treatment program in prison. (2/19/15 Tr., p.27, Ls.21-24.) The prosecutor asked the court to set another status conference in another month. (2/19/15 Tr., p.28, Ls.5-7.)

At the next month's status conference, the prosecutor again told the court that it was still planning to bring Mr. Richardson back from federal prison, and it was still in that process. (3/12/15 Tr., p.29, Ls.12-14.) Again, the prosecutor asked for another status conference in one month. (3/12/15 Tr., p.29, Ls.14-16.)

At the next status conference, the prosecutor told the court that it had not made any progress in its attempts to bring Mr. Richardson back from federal prison. (4/23/15 Tr., p.32, Ls.11-13.) Defense counsel reminded the court and prosecutor that Mr. Richardson had filed a demand for speed trial and advised them that he would be filing a motion to dismiss once the six months was up. (4/23/15 Tr., p.32, Ls.15-20.) The court set the case for another status conference in one month. (4/23/15 Tr., p.33, L.21 – p.34, L.4.)

On June 25, 2015, the district court held another status hearing. (6/25/15 Tr.¹) The prosecutor told the court and counsel that Mr. Richardson was still in the Indiana Federal Prison, and the prison had received all of the documentation they needed before he could be transferred to the Nez Perce County Sherriff and then transported to Idaho. (6/25/15 Tr., p.16, Ls.11-17.) The prosecutor asked for another status conference in a month, hoping Mr. Richardson would be back in Idaho at that time. (6/25/15 Tr., p.16, Ls.18-20.) On July 7, 2015, the Terre Haute warden signed a Certificate of Inmate Status pursuant to the IAD. (R., p.222.)

On July 30, 2015, another status conference was held in Mr. Richardson's case. (7/30/15 Tr.) The prosecutor advised the court that there was a form missing that needed to be provided to the federal prison in order to get Mr. Richardson into their custody and asked for another status conference in four weeks. (7/30/15 Tr., p.35, Ls.13-19.)

Six months after his Demand for Speedy Trial was filed, Mr. Richardson filed a motion to dismiss for violations of his right to speedy trial, asserting that the delay in trying his case caused him to lose an opportunity to participate in an excellent drug treatment program while in prison.² (R., pp.230-239, 244-248, 266-268, 270-272, 275-280.)

¹ The sixteenth page of the transcripts prepared by Linda Carlton erroneously identifies the hearing date as "August 25, 2015"; however, the hearing was held on June 25, 2015 which date is correctly identified on page 4 of the Carlton transcripts (Vol. II of II). ² Mr. Richardson was heavily addicted to methamphetamine, yet has congestive heart failure making the use of amphetamines/methamphetamines incredibly dangerous. (PSI, p.12; 9/25/14 Tr., p.7, L.24 – p.8, L.11; *see* http://www.methproject.org/answers/ does-meth-affect-your-heart.html#Heart-in-Overdrive (website last visited 3/13/17).)

On August 27, 2015, the district court set a trial date for December 7, 2015, and scheduled a time to hear the motion to dismiss. (R., pp.240-243.) The State opposed dismissal, asserting that when Mr. Richardson first demanded speedy trial, a detainer had not yet been filed. (R., pp.249-250.) The State's position was that Mr. Richardson was required to re-demand his speedy trial rights after the detainer was filed in May or June of 2015, and the 180-day time limitation set forth in the IAD did not begin until after Mr. Richardson re-demanded his right on July 22, 2015. (R., pp.249-250.) Attachments to the State's response included a May 18, 2015 letter from the prosecutor's office to Terre Haute FCI enclosing copies of documents relating to the Idaho cases, including the bench warrant, and asking that extradition proceedings begin. (R., p.253.) Mr. Richardson filed an additional brief in support of his motion, asserting that his Constitutional right to a speedy trial was independent of, and superior to, the provisions of the IAD. (R., pp.266-268.)

The district court denied Mr. Richardson's motion to dismiss after a hearing, finding that "[a] detainer was lodged on June 24, 2015; therefore speedy trial was not invoked until that date", and the case then proceeded to trial. (9/24/15 Tr.; R., pp.273-274.)

At trial, several of the State's law enforcement witnesses could not recall the specifics of the drug transactions, due to the length of time that had passed between the controlled buys and Mr. Richardson's trial. (Trial Tr., p.129, Ls.7-9; p.143, L.23 – p.144, L.2; p.145, Ls.6-8; p.170, Ls.2-4; p.179, Ls.20-22; p.181, L.24 – p.182, L.7; p.184, Ls.11-12; p.188, Ls.6-12; p.188, L.23 - p.189, L.7; p.193, Ls.4-5; p.195, Ls.11-18; p.196, Ls.4-14; p.199, Ls.14-16; p.200, Ls.15-24; p.201, Ls.14-17, 23-25; p.204, Ls.12-14;

p.208, Ls.11-14; p.217, Ls.1-3 (testimony of Officer Dammon); p.277, Ls.13-17; p.278, L.22 – p.279, L.10; p.280, Ls.20-23; p.282, L.20 – p.283, L.7; p.285, Ls.5-24; p.288, L.9 - p.289, L.22 (testimony of Officer Yount).)

During the State's case in chief, the prosecutor elicited from Officer Dammon prohibited testimony about Mr. Richardson's prior bad acts. Specifically, the prosecutor asked Officer Dammon how he became involved in the case, to which the Officer responded, "I was provided information from a confidential informant about a Kyle Richardson being involved in the distribution. . . of controlled substances." (Trial Tr., p.119, Ls.3-20.) Defense counsel objected on hearsay and I.R.E. 404(b) grounds. (Trial Tr., p.119, Ls.19-24.) The State argued that it was not hearsay as it was being used to show the effect on the listener (Trial Tr., p.120, Ls.1-6), and the district court allowed the testimony, finding that it was foundational where it was "being provided only to show the foundation for what the officer did" (Trial Tr., p.120, Ls.7-12).

Ultimately, the jury convicted Mr. Richardson of the three counts of delivery of a controlled substance, methamphetamine. (Trial Tr., p.346, L.22 – p.347, L.6; R., pp.324-325.) On each count, the district court sentenced Mr. Richardson to twelve years, with five years fixed, to be served concurrently with the other counts and with the federal sentence. (2/18/16 Tr., p.364, Ls.4-12; R., pp.355-358.)

Mr. Richardson objected to restitution, and the district court subsequently held a hearing on the State's request for reimbursement for buy money, ISP testing, and an ISP employee's testimony and travel. (5/19/16 Tr. p.11, L.5 – p.26, L.24; Augmentation, pp.1-12.) In response to the objections, the State called Officer Dammon, who testified that the department expended \$2,100 for the controlled buys involving Mr. Richardson.

(5/19/16 Tr., p.15, L.6 – p.17, L.24.) Officer Dammon testified that he did not have any knowledge of David Sincerbeaux's expenses. (5/19/16 Tr., p.20, Ls.4-12; p.21, Ls.13-17.) Yet the district court awarded the amount requested by the State, holding that the defense failed to introduce evidence showing the request for restitution for Mr. Sincerbeaux's trial testimony was inappropriate. (Augmentation, pp.9-11.)

Mr. Richardson timely appealed from his judgment of conviction. (R., pp.359-362.)

ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err when it violated Mr. Richardson's speedy trial rights?
- 2. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Richardson's motion to dismiss based on the State's failure to comply with the Interstate Agreement on Detainers' 180 day deadline?
- 3. Did the district court err in admitting evidence of Mr. Richardson's prior bad acts?
- 4. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it ordered Mr. Richardson to pay restitution in the absence of substantial evidence to support such an award?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Ι.

Mr. Richardson's Statutory And Constitutional Rights To A Speedy Trial Were Violated When The District Court Denied His Motion To Dismiss And Set The Case For Trial Four Years After The Information Was Filed

A. Introduction

Mr. Richardson was arrested on January 4, 2012, and sat in jail when the trial was first continued because the State's key witness was unavailable on the first trial setting of June 4, 2012. Mr. Richardson sat in jail and then prison while the State took 18 months to appeal to the Idaho Supreme Court an unfavorable district court ruling. Mr. Richardson sat in prison while the district court held a status conference upon remand, during which the prosecutor told the district court and defense counsel that it was Mr. Richardson's duty to get his Idaho case taken care of. Mr. Richardson, tired of sitting in prison and still without treatment for his severe substance abuse addiction. filed a Demand for Speedy Trial, after which he continued to sit in prison. Mr. Richardson sat in prison while the district court, in response to the Demand, held hearing, after hearing, after hearing, to check on the State's progress (or lack thereof) in having Mr. Richardson brought to Idaho to be tried. In October of 2015, Mr. Richardson finally made it to Idaho, where he sat in jail for several more months until his trial. Over the four year period of time, the trial witnesses forgot what they had observed of the controlled buys which made effective cross-examination of these witnesses difficult, if not impossible. Because Mr. Richardson's statutory and constitutional speedy trial rights were violated when he unnecessarily waited, to his detriment, for four years to

have a jury trial, his convictions and sentences should be vacated and his case dismissed with prejudice.

B. <u>The District Court Violated Mr. Richardson's Right To A Speedy Trial As</u> <u>Guaranteed By The United States And Idaho Constitutions</u>

By denying Mr. Richardson's motion to dismiss, the district court violated his right to a speedy trial as guaranteed by the United States Constitution and Idaho Constitution. The United States Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial" U.S. CONST. amend. VI. In Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972), the United States Supreme Court recognized that the "speedy" trial guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment is a "more vague concept than other procedural rights," and that what is considered "speedy" will vary from case to case, depending on the unique facts of each. Id. at 521-30. Thus, the Barker Court adopted an ad hoc approach, taking into consideration four factors: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason(s) for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion(s) of his right; and (4) the prejudice suffered by the defendant owing to the delay. Id. at 530-33. With regard to the balancing of these four factors, the Court held as follows: "We regard none of the four factors identified above as either a necessary or sufficient condition to the finding of a deprivation of the right to a speedy trial. Rather, they are related factors that must be considered together with such other circumstances as may be relevant." Id. at 533.

The Idaho Constitution contains a virtually identical speedy trial guarantee. IDAHO CONST. art I § 13. Accordingly, the Idaho Supreme Court has adopted the same four-factor test for evaluating speedy trial claims under the Idaho Constitution as the

United States Supreme Court has applied for evaluating speedy trial claims under the United States Constitution.³ *State v. Young*, 136 Idaho 113, 117 (2001).

Under the Idaho Constitution, the period of delay, for speedy trial purposes, is measured from the date formal charges are filed or the defendant is arrested, whichever occurs first. See State v. Risdon, 154 Idaho 244 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding a fifteen month delay is long enough to be presumptively prejudicial and, therefore, triggered an inquiry into whether it violated the defendant's constitutional speedy trial right). The defendant's assertion of his right to a speedy trial is entitled to strong evidentiary weight in determining whether the defendant is being deprived of that constitutional right. *State v. Lopez*, 144 Idaho 349, 353 (Ct. App. 2007). Prejudice is to be assessed in light of the interests the constitutional right to a speedy trial is designed to protect: (1) to prevent oppressive pretrial incarceration; (2) to minimize anxiety and concern of the accused; and (3) to limit the possibility the defense will be impaired. *Id.* at 354.

³ Although the right to a speedy trial under the Idaho Constitution is not necessarily identical to the right to a speedy trial under the United States Constitution, *State v. Davis*, 141 Idaho 828, 836 (Ct. App. 2005), the only difference identified thus far is the starting point for measuring the period of delay. According to the *Young* Court:

Under the Sixth Amendment, the period of delay is measured from the date there is "a formal indictment or information or else the actual restraints imposed by arrest and holding to answer a criminal charge." *United States v. Marion*, 404 U.S. 307, 320, 92 S. Ct. 455, 463, 30 L. Ed. 2d 468, 479 (1971). Under the Idaho Constitution, the period of delay is measured from the date formal charges are filed or the defendant is arrested, whichever occurs first.

Young, 136 Idaho at 117. However, this distinction is not material to the present appeal because Mr. Richardson was arrested on January 4, 2012, thus "starting the clock" on the speedy trial issue for purposes of both the Idaho Constitution and the United States Constitution.

As set forth in detail below, under the *Barker* test, this Court should find that Mr. Richardson's speedy trial rights, under both the Idaho Constitution and United States Constitution, were violated when the State took over four years to bring him to trial.

1. <u>The Four Year Delay Is Presumptively Prejudicial</u>

The threshold factor to be considered pursuant to *Barker* is the length of delay.

With regard to this factor, the United States Supreme Court has held as follows:

The length of the delay is to some extent a triggering mechanism. Until there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go in the balance. Nevertheless, because of the imprecision of the right to speedy trial, the length of delay that will provoke such an inquiry is necessarily dependent upon the peculiar circumstances of the case.

Barker, 407 U.S. at 530-31.

Mr. Richardson was arrested on January 4, 2012, but was not tried until December 7, 2015, a delay of nearly four years (1,433 days). This delay ought to be sufficient to "trigger" further inquiry because, as the United States Supreme Court has observed, "[d]epending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found postaccusation delay 'presumptively prejudicial' *at least* as it approaches one year." *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 652 n.1 (1992) (emphasis added). This observation appears to be consistent with Idaho precedent, as Idaho appellate courts undertake full *Barker* inquiries not only with trial delays around a year, but sometimes even with trial delays as short as seven months. *See, e.g., State v. Hernandez*, 133 Idaho 576, 582-83 (Ct. App. 1999) (implicitly finding a delay of nine months to be sufficient to trigger a full inquiry under *Barker*); *State v. Reutzel*, 130 Idaho 88, 94 (Ct. App. 1997) (same); *State v. Wavrick*, 123 Idaho 83, 88 (Ct. App. 1992) (holding that

a delay of less than sixteen months is sufficient to trigger a full inquiry); *State v. Talmage*, 104 Idaho 249, 252 (1983) (holding that a delay of seven and one-half months is sufficient to trigger a full inquiry); *State v. Lindsay*, 96 Idaho 474 (1975) (holding that a delay of fourteen months is sufficient to trigger a full inquiry). Perhaps this is because Idaho has a statute, the predecessor of which pre-dates statehood, that evidences the Idaho Legislature's belief that a delay of six months is simply too long to wait to try a defendant in the average case. *See* I.C. § 19-3501 (providing that, unless "good cause" is shown, if the defendant is not tried within six months from the filing of the information or the defendant's arraignment following indictment, the case against him must be dismissed); *State v. Clark*, 135 Idaho 255, 257-58 (2000) (discussing the history of I.C. § 19-3501).⁴

2. <u>The State's Reasons For The Delay, Taken As A Whole, Do Not Justify</u> <u>The Delay</u>

The second factor to be considered is the reason for the delay. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531-532. Mr. Richardson recognizes that any delay attributable to him will not count towards the speedy trial calculation. *See United States v. Loud Hawk*, 474 U.S. 302, 316-17 (1986); *State v. Folk*, 151 Idaho 327, 332 (2011) (holding defendant's request to postpone the trial waives protections of speedy trial statute, even if trial is rescheduled within six-month period). However, he contends that the both the district court and the State are responsible for the delay and not himself.

The *Barker* Court held that, with respect to the delays attributable to the government:

⁴ Mr. Richardson analyzes I.C. § 19-3501 in some detail below, as that provision underlies his claim that he was denied his statutory right to a speedy trial.

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