Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-19-2017

State v. Richardson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44042

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

Unlike the demanding state, which has discretion to choose whether to seek extradition, asylum states generally do not have such discretion. As the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly explained, "the duty imposed by the Extradition Clause on the asylum State [is] mandatory" and "afford[s] no discretion to the executive officers or the courts of the asylum State." <u>New Mexico, ex rel. Ortiz v. Reed</u>, 524 U.S. 151, 154-55 (1998) (citing <u>Puerto Rico v. Branstad</u>, 483 U.S. 219, 227 (1987); <u>California v.</u> Sup. Court of Cal., San Bernardino Cty., 482 U.S. 400, 405-06 (1987); Kentucky v.

<u>Dennison</u>, 24 How. 66 (1860)). There is, however, an exception to this rule under the Uniform Criminal Extradition Act, which provides that when

a criminal prosecution has been instituted against such person under the laws of [the asylum] state and is still pending, the governor in his discretion, either may surrender such person on demand of the executive authority of another state or hold him until he has been tried and discharged, or convicted and punished in this state.

I.C. § 19-4519.

Recognizing both that "charges outstanding against a prisoner, detainers based on untried indictments, informations or complaints, and difficulties in securing speedy trial of persons already incarcerated in other jurisdictions, produce uncertainties which obstruct programs of prisoner treatment and rehabilitation," and that "proceedings with reference to such charges and detainers, when emanating from another jurisdiction, cannot properly be had in the absence of cooperative procedures," the federal government and most states (including Idaho) have adopted the IAD "to encourage the expeditious and orderly disposition of such charges and determination of the proper status of any and all detainers based on untried indictments, informations or complaints." I.C. § 19-5001(a). Thus, the basic purposes of the IAD are to give prisoners the right to an expeditious trial after compliance with its terms, and to give states the right to obtain a prisoner for the purposes of trial. <u>Alabama v. Bozeman</u>, 533 U.S. 146, 151 (2001).

To facilitate the expeditious and orderly disposition of these charges, after specific requirements have been met, the IAD requires states to bring the fugitive to trial within 180 days. I.C. § 19-5001(c)(1). After reviewing the record, the district court determined that the IAD applied to this case and correctly concluded that the state had

not violated Richardson's rights under the IAD. (R., p.273.) As the Idaho Court of Appeals has previously recognized:

For a defendant to invoke the speedy trial provision of the IAD, three events must occur: (1) the receiving State must place a detainer on a prisoner in the sending State, I.C. § 19-5001(c)(1); (2) the prisoner must deliver to the warden or custodial official holding custody over the prisoner a written notice and request for final disposition, I.C. § 19-5001(c)(2); and (3) the warden or custodial official must promptly forward the prisoner's request and a certificate containing the "term of commitment under which the prisoner is being held, the time already served, the time remaining to be served on the sentence, the amount of good time earned, the time of parole eligibility of the prisoner, and any decisions of the state parole agency relating to the prisoner" to the appropriate prosecutor and district court in the receiving State, I.C. § 19-5001(c)(1), (2).

<u>State v. Mangum</u>, 153 Idaho 705, 709, 291 P.3d 44, 48 (Ct. App. 2012) (footnote omitted).

In this case, the state requested that a detainer be lodged against Richardson on June 24, 2015. (R., pp.255, 273.) After that detainer was lodged, Richardson then delivered his written notice and request for final disposition in July. (R., pp.257-64.) Federal correctional officials forwarded Richardson's request, together with all appropriate certificates, to the Idaho prosecutor on July 22, 2015. (R., p.257.) Finally, Richardson was brought to trial on December 7, 2015 (See Trial Tr.; see also R., pp.241, 313-23), which was within the applicable 180-day limit. Richardson's rights under the IAD were not violated.

On appeal, Richardson argues that he substantially complied with the IAD by sending letters to the court and county prosecutor's office requesting that he be returned to Idaho for his trial, and therefore the 180-day limit began months earlier than recognized by the district court. (Appellant's brief, pp.22-36.) This argument fails.

Idaho requires strict compliance, not substantial compliance, with the IAD. <u>Mangum</u>, 153 Idaho at 713, 291 P.3d at 52. As detailed above, Richardson did not strictly comply with the requirements of the IAD until July 22, 2015.

Richardson further asserts that the strict compliance requirement of <u>Mangum</u> is tempered where "intentional interference by State parties is shown." (Appellant's brief, pp.27-30 (citing <u>Mangum</u>, 153 Idaho at 713, 291 P.3d at 52).) Richardson then appears to argue that the state's inability to expedite his extradition after receiving his non-compliant "demands" for trial constitutes "intentional interference." (<u>See</u> Appellant's brief, pp.28-30.) This argument fails on two grounds: First, as shown at the outset of this argument, a defendant cannot compel his extradition. It is entirely within the discretion of the executive of the demanding state if and when to seek extradition; it is therefore entirely within its discretion if and when to file a detainer against a fugitive. Second, this is the exact scenario addressed by the Court of Appeals in <u>Mangum</u>. <u>See id.</u>, 153 Idaho at 707-08, 713, 291 P.3d at 46-47, 52. That Court's holding, requiring strict compliance, is no less applicable under the facts of this case.

Finally, Richardson asserts that the bench warrant issued by the district court on July 24, 2014, is the equivalent of a detainer. (Appellant's brief, pp.30-33.) This argument fails on multiple grounds. First, as noted above, Idaho precedent requires strict compliance with the IAD. <u>Mangum</u>, 153 Idaho at 713, 291 P.3d at 52. The mere "equivalent" of a detainer is insufficient to *strictly* comply with the requirements of the IAD. Second, under the IAD, the detainer is to be lodged by the appropriate prosecuting officer of the demanding state. <u>See</u> I.C. § 19-5001(c)(1), (d)(1). A bench warrant issued by a district judge is not a detainer lodged by a prosecuting officer.

Third, the United States Supreme Court has defined a detainer as "a request filed by a criminal justice agency with the institution in which a prisoner is incarcerated asking the institution either to hold the prisoner for the agency or to notify the agency when release of the prisoner is imminent." <u>Carchman v. Nash</u>, 473 U.S. 716, 719 (1985). The bench warrant, on its face, does none of these things. (<u>See</u> R., p.205.) While a bench warrant issued by a district court may be a prerequisite for lodging a detainer, the bench warrant is not a detainer.

Under the IAD, the 180-day limit was triggered when Idaho officials actually received all of the required certificates and demands from the federal authorities. Idaho law requires strict compliance with the request provision of the IAD. As demonstrated by the record, Idaho officials did not receive the required certificates until July 22, 2015. (R., p.257.) Richardson was brought to trial on December 7, 2015. (R., pp.313-23; <u>see also</u> Trial Tr.) The trial thus commenced within the 180-day limit established by the IAD. Richardson has therefore failed to show any violation of his rights under the IAD. The district court correctly denied Richardson's motion to dismiss and should be affirmed.

III. <u>Richardson Has Failed To Show That The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It</u> Allowed The Detective To Lay Foundation For His Subsequent Investigation

A. Introduction

During the criminal trial, while providing foundation for his subsequent testimony, the prosecutor asked Detective Dammon how he became involved in the criminal case. (Trial Tr., p.118, L.20 – p.119, L.3.) The detective answered that he had received information from a confidential informant. (Id., p.119, Ls.4-5.) Defense counsel made a

preemptory objection, which was overruled for being premature. (Id., p.119, Ls.6-12.)

The following exchange then ensued:

BY MR. COLEMAN:

Q. So how—how did you become involved on that day?

A. I was provided information from a confidential informant about a Kyle Richardson being involved in the distribution—

MR. RADAKOVICH: Objection.

THE WITNESS: —of controlled substances.

MR. RADAKOVICH: It's hearsay.

MR. COLEMAN: May I respond?

MR. RADAKOVICH: More than that, it's a violation of 404(b).

(Id., p.119, Ls.13-24.) The district court granted the prosecutor leave to respond and

the prosecutor explained,

Your Honor, this isn't hearsay. It's being used to show—it's not being used to show the truth of the matter asserted; it's just being used to show the effect it had on this listener in terms of what he did with his investigation, the next step.

(Id., p.119, L.25 – p.120, L.6.) The district court agreed and, with a limiting instruction,

allowed the testimony as follows:

Well, I'm going to allow it. It's foundational. The jury is instructed that this is information being provided only to show the foundation for what the officer did. It's not for the truth of the matter of what's been said by the out-of-court statement.

(Id., p.120, Ls.7-12.) The district court never ruled on the Rule 404(b) objection.

On appeal, Richardson argues that the district court abused its discretion by

allowing the elicited testimony to be presented to the jury over his Rule 404(b) objection.

(Appellant's brief, pp.36-48.) Application of the correct legal principles to the facts of this case, however, shows no abuse of discretion.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Grist</u>, 147 Idaho 49, 51, 205 P.3d 1185, 1187 (2009) (citations omitted). "In the case of an incorrect ruling regarding evidence, this Court will grant relief on appeal only if the error affects a substantial right of one of the parties." <u>State v. Shackelford</u>, 150 Idaho 355, 363, 247 P.3d 582, 590 (2010) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

C. <u>The Testimony Elicited From Detective Dammon Was Not Hearsay</u>

As noted above, Richardson objected at trial to the elicited testimony on the basis that it was hearsay. (Trial Tr., p.119, Ls.13-21.) Hearsay "is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." I.R.E. 801(c). But this testimony was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, but only to show its effect on the detective, in terms of why he commenced the investigation. (See Trial Tr., p.120, Ls.1-6.) And the district court took the extra step of instructing the jury to ensure that the testimony would not be considered for the truth of the matter asserted, but only as foundation for the detective's investigation. (Id., p.120, Ls.7-12.) Because the elicited testimony was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, and the district court specifically limited the jury's ability to consider the testimony for the truth of the matter

asserted, it was not hearsay. The district court properly overruled Richardson's hearsay objection and should be affirmed.

D. <u>Contrary To Richardson's Arguments On Appeal, Detective Dammon's Elicited</u> Testimony Should Not Be Excluded Under Rule 404(B)

On appeal, Richardson does not challenge the district court's actual ruling; instead, he claims that the evidence should have been excluded under 404(b). (Appellant's brief, pp.36-48.) This argument fails. Under Rule 404(b), "[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith." If the evidence had been admitted for the purpose of showing that Richardson had previously dealt drugs, such evidence would be properly analyzed under Rule 404(b). But that is not what happened in this case. Rather, as shown above, the prosecutor noted that the evidence was being offered, not for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show why Detective Dammon became involved in the investigation. (Trial Tr., p.119, L.14 – p.120, L.6.) And the district court gave the jury specific limiting instructions, explaining that the evidence was only admitted for the purpose of foundation and could not be considered for the truth of the matter asserted. (Id., p.120, Ls.7-12.) Because this evidence was specifically not admitted "to prove [Richardson's] character ... in order to show that [he] acted in conformity therewith," it is not 404(b) evidence.

Richardson further argues that the district court admitted the testimony as *res gestae*. (Appellant's brief, pp.39-44.) This argument is without merit. As can be seen through a reading of the transcript, nowhere does that term—or any of its analogues— appear in relation to the challenged testimony. Richardson also complains that he was

not given notice that the state would use the supposed 404(b) evidence. (Appellant's brief, pp.44-46.) This argument is too without merit. First, as shown above, the elicited testimony is specifically not 404(b) evidence. Second, while Richardson's objection was likely sufficient to preserve his generalized 404(b) argument, he never raised the issue of notice below, and this specific argument is therefore not preserved. <u>See State v.</u> <u>Armstrong</u>, 158 Idaho 364, 367, 347 P.3d 1025, 1028 (Ct. App. 2015) ("For an objection to be preserved for appellate review, either the specific ground for the objection must be clearly stated or the basis of the objection must be apparent from the context.").

E. <u>Even If The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Permitting The Prosecutor To</u> <u>Elicit The Challenged Testimony, Such Error Was Necessarily Harmless</u>

Even had the district court abused its discretion by allowing the elicited testimony, such would not constitute reversible error because it would be harmless. "Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected" I.R.E. 103(a). <u>See also I.C.R. 52</u> ("Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded."). In determining whether error is harmless, "[t]he inquiry is whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, a rational jury would have convicted [the defendant] even without the admission of the challenged evidence." <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 148 Idaho 664, 669, 227 P.3d 918, 923 (2010) (citations omitted).

This Court may determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the elicited testimony did not affect Richardson's conviction on at least two grounds. First, as shown above, the district court properly instructed the jury, eliminating the potential for prejudice to Richardson by limiting the purpose for which the jury could consider the testimony. This

Court "presume[s] that a jury follows the instructions it is given." <u>State v. Joy</u>, 155 Idaho 1, 7, 304 P.3d 276, 282 (2013). If the jury followed the instructions in this case, then it only considered the testimony as foundation for the officer's investigation and not for the truth of any matters asserted, and there is no prejudice.

Second, the jury did not convict Richardson because there was evidence that a convicted drug user, in an effort to mitigate the punishment he was facing for his use, accused Richardson of also being involved in the distribution of drugs. It convicted Richardson based on the overwhelming evidence that he, on three separate occasions, delivered methamphetamine to the confidential informant. (See Trial Tr., p.122, L.13 – p.166, L.13; p.224, L.12 – p.227, L.16; p.254, L.19 – p.271, L.2; State's Exs. 4-11.) This Court, therefore, may determine beyond a reasonable doubt that omission of the challenged testimony did not contribute to Richardson's conviction.

The district court correctly overruled Richardson's trial objection on hearsay grounds because the elicited testimony was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted and therefore was not hearsay. Richardson's argument that admission of the testimony violated Rule 404(b) also fails because the testimony did not present 404(b) evidence. Finally, even had the district court abused its discretion by allowing the challenged testimony, such error would necessarily be harmless because that testimony did not affect the outcome of Richardson's trial. The district court's ruling should be affirmed.

IV. <u>Richardson Has Failed To Show That The District Court Abused Its Discretion By</u> <u>Ordering Restitution</u>

A. Introduction

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